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540 Prorie v. MERKOURIS » 146 C.2d

[Crim. No, 5745. In Bank. May 25, 1956.]

THE PEOPLE, Respondent, v. JAMES MERKOURIS,
Appellant.

[11 Criminal Law—=Separate Proceeding on Issue of Insanity—
Doubt.—Ordinarily the question whether a “doubt” has arisen
as to defendant’s sanity is for determination of the trial judge
and it is only where, as a matter of law, a doubt may be said
to appear, or where there has been an abuse of diseretion by
the trial judge, that his conclusion may properly be disturbed
on appeal.

[2a, 2b] Id.—Separate Proceeding on Issue of Insanity-—Discre-
tion.—Where a doubt of defendant’s sanity at the time of trial
appears on the face of the record as a matter of law, as where
the court, after reading an affidavit of a qualified psychiatrist
in which it was averred that defendant was medieally and
legally insane, and after being told that defendant did not
want a plea of not guilty by reason of insanity entered, said
that it would be “compelled” to accept such a plea, an abuse
of diseretion in permitting defendant to withdraw the plea is
shown, the failure to order a determination of the question of
sanity results in a misearriage of justice, and a reversal is
required.

[3] Id.—Separate Proceeding on Issue of Insanity—Necessity For.
—Where three court-appointed psychiatrists considered de-
fendant sane at the time of trial and at the time the crime
in question was committed, and one independent psychiatrist
considered him both legally and medically insane at both times,
sueh econflict in medical evidence was sufficient to make the
question one of faet which should have been tried.

{4] Id.—Separate Proceeding on Issue of Insanity—Doubt.—It is k

the eourt’s duty to order an inguisition on its own motion if
at any time a doubt arises as to a defendant’s present sanity,
and no plea of present insanity is required for a trial of such
issue.

[5] Attorneys—Authority—~Control of Litigation.—An attorney of
record has the exclusive right to appear in court for his elient

[6] See Cal.Jur.2d, Attormeys at Law, §156; Am.Jur., Attor-
neys at Law, § 85 et seq.

McK. Dig. References: [1, 4] Criminal Law, §236(2); [2]
Criminal Law, §236(5); [3] Criminal Law, §236; [5] Attorneys,
§ 55; [6] Homicide, § 262; [7] Criminal Law, § 325; [8, 9] Homi-
cide, § 67; [10] Criminal Law, § 531; [11] Homiecide, §119; [12]
Criminal Law, § 1080(5); [13] Criminal Law, § 516; [14] Homicide,
§267; [15] Homicide, § 235; [16] Criminal Law, § 582(1).
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and to control the court proceedings, so that neither the party
himeelf nor another attorney ean be recoguized by the court
in the conduct or disposition of the ecase.
Homicide—Appeal—Harmless Brror—Admission of Evidence,
—1In a prosecution for the murder of defendant’s former wife,
no prejudice resulted from the admission of evidenee relative
to the death of decedent’s new hushand after the distriet
attorney had elected to proceed sslely on the wmformation
charging defendant with the murder of his former wife, where
the evidence was properly admitted as part of the res gestae
or beeause it helped to diselose motive, intent or a common
plan or seheme, where the vietims met their deaths in the
same manner and at approximately the same fime, and where
the jury was properly instructed concerning the limited purpose
for which such evidenece was received.

COriminal Law—Conduct of Judge.—It is the duty of the trial
judge in the administration of justice to preserve the order
of the court and te see that all persons, ineluding defendant
himself, indulge in no aet or econduct calenlated to obstruet
the administration of justice; and it was not prejudicial mis-
conduet to inform defendant, who had repeatedly aceused the
judge of running the trial in a very prejudicial manner, that
if he made another outburst he would be gagged.
Homicide—Evidence—Threats.—While threats made by de-
fendant against the deceased are admissible in evidence in a
murder prosecution to show malice, threats against another
person are only admitted under circumstances which show
some eonnection with the injury inflicted on the deceased, and
where a sufficient conneetion is shown sueh threats are ad-
missible.

Id.—Evidence—Threats.—Where the evidence showed that
defendant’s former wife and her new hushand had been killed
in the same manner and presumably at the same time, defend-
ant's letter to his former wife which accused her of being a
soxual degenerate eould be considered a malicious letter and
one he wrote to her new husband, telling him not to worry
about his wife’s alleged sexual degenervacy because he wonld
not be around long, could be considered a threat heeause of
his marviage to defendant’s former wife.

[1¢7 Criminal Law—Evidence—Best and Secondary Bvidence—

The econrt in a murder prosecution did not err in admitting
seeondary evidenee of the contents of letters which defendant
had sent his vietims, where proof of the destruetion thereof
was first made by a postal inspector who later festified as to
the contents of the letters.

{117 Homicide—Xvidence—Letters.-—Remoteness in point of time

of malicious and threatening letters which defendant in a
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murder prosecuftion had sent his vietims goes fo the weight
of such evidence rather than its admissibility.

[12] Criminal Law-—Appeal—Objections— Evidence.—Defendant
cannot complain on appeal that a copy of the original record-
ing of a conversation of a police officer with him was played
to the jury where both the original recording and the copy
were admitted in evidenee without objection, and where the
original, as well as the copy, was played fo the jury.

[138] Id.—Evidence—Documentary FEvidence.—Defendant ecannot
suceessfully complain that certain notes and a written tran-
seription of a tape recording used by an officer were erroneously
admitted in evidence over ohjection where the record shows
that the notes were used pursuant to Code Civ. Proe., § 2047,
relating to a witness refreshing memory from notes, that the
questioned writings were marked for identification, and that
the eourt informed all attorneys they might see and use them,
to which defense counsel replied, “Thank you very mueh.”

[14] Homicide— Appeal —Reversible Brror—Instructions.—In a
murder prosecution, it was prejudieial error to give an instrue-
tion on lying in wait where, though there was evidence that
defendant was the man who had been sitting in an automobile
near decedent’s shop for some time prior to the date of the
crime, there was no evidence tending to show that defendant
made any attempt to conceal himself or to keep his presence
in the vicinity of the shop a secret, and where the last time
his car was shown to have been parked in the vicinity was
two days before the erime.

[15] Id.—Instructions—Duties of Jurors.—In a murder prosecu-
tion, the trial court erred in refusing to give a requested in-
struetion concerning the jury’s duty if the evidence was
suseeptible of two reasonable theories, one pointing to his
guilt and the other to his innocence, where the evidence was
entirely cireumstantial, no murder weapon was ever found,
no fingerprints matching those of defendant were found in the
ghop where the erime was ecommitted, and the most ineriminat-

ing evidence against defendant, which the jury could have
dishelieved, was that he was identified as the man eoming ount
of the back gate of the shop.

[16] Criminal Law -— Bvidence — Degree of Proof — Reasonable
Doubt.—In a criminal case the prosecution must prove de-
fendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, and if the evidence
is equally balanced, defendant is entitled to an acquittal.

APPEAL (automatically taken under Pen. Code, § 1239,
subd. (b)) from a judgment of the Superior Court of Losg
Angeles County and from an order denying a new trial
Charles W. Fricke, Judge. Reversed.
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Prosecition Tor movder, Judgment of convietion imposing
ﬁz( Jdeath ;H‘Hzii?‘\'} roversoed.

Morvis Lavine and PP Basil Lambros for Appeliant

Bdmund G, Brown, Attorney General, and Elizabeth Miller,
Depunty Alorney General, for Respondent.

CARTER, J-~Defendant, James Mevkouris, was charged
by nformation® with the murder of Despine Forbes, his
former wite, e pleaded not guilty, and not guilty by reason
of insanity.? The jury returned a verdict of first degree
murder, without recommendation, based entively upon eircum-
stantial evidence. Defendant’s motion for a new frial was
denied and judgment was thercafter provounced and the
death penalty imposed. The appeal is antomatic. (Pen. Code,
§1239, subd. (b).)

Def ‘endant and Despine were married in Michigan in 1944.
They moved to Los Angeles where they separated in February,
1945, Defendant divorced Despine in Michigan in May, 1945,
Despine was married fo Robert Forbes in September, 1946,
in Los Angeles. Robert, a former police officer, and Despine
went into the ceramics business at 5956 West Boulevard in
Los Angeles,

In the summer of 1948, Inspector Wood of the United
States Post Office received a telephone call from a man
who identified himself as Robert Forbes. Inspector Wood
testified that the person identifying himself as Robert Forhes
made a complaint involving a violation of postal regulations
as a result of which he went to the ceramics shop and inter-
viewed Robert Iforbes. Forbes directed Inspector Wood to
go io the home of Despine’s mother where he picked up three
letters in envelopes, The envelopes were postmarked at Los
f\mzw%i; and two of them were addressed to Mr. Forbes and
one o Mrs. Forbes; the letters were signed ““Jim Merkouris”’
or ““Jim Merkery.”” The letters aceused Mrs. Forbes of being
a sexual degenerate and told My. Forbes not to Worry about

1]}qulddnt was eharged in another information with the murder of
Rebert Forbes, hushand of Despine. The district attorney elected to go

rind only on the information charging the murder of Despine.
Defendant, after the verdict wag rveturned, requested permission to
withdraw this plea.

Both of these points are now urged as reasons why this court shonld
reverse the judgment and will he hereinafter discussed.
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it beeause he would not be around long. As a result of the
action taken, defendant wag indicted in Michigan for sending
obseene matter through the mails, pleaded guilty, was fined
$150 and placed on probation for two years. After the
statute of limitations had run in 1951, Inspector Wood de-
stroyed the letters. Inspector Wood testified from his recol-
lection of the matter.

Another officer testified that Forbes had told him he was
trying to get a permit to carry a gun because Despine’s
““ex-hushand’ had been telephoning them and writing letters
and that he was afraid of the man.

In 1953, defendant and one Jerry Pappos ran a restaurant
in Detroit, Michigan, for about three weeks. During that
timne, Mr. Pappos went to the restaurant one morning and
found a box with two guns in the bottom of the cigarette
cage. One of the guns had a cylinder on it similar to that
on a Colt .38, but they were bigger. When he asked de:
fendant about the guns, defendant said they belonged to a
friend of his. Mr. Pappos told the defendant to get rid of
them and defendant said, ‘“‘Soon I get the guy I get them
out.”” The guns disappeared shortly thereafter. When the
business was broken up, Mr. Pappos bought defendant’s in:
terest by buying defendant a car in his, Pappos’, name, and
making the payments thereon. The car was a black 1953
Pontiac hard-top.

The record shows that defendant, using the name ‘‘Jerry
Pappas,’’ registered at a hotel in Lios Angeles on September 3,
1954 ; that he was driving a black 1953 Pontiac with Michigan
license plates. Defendant checked out of the hotel on Sep-
tember 8, 1954.

Customarily, Robert Forbes took Despine to the ceramies

shop and then took their daughter to the home of Despine’s

mother where she was cared for during the day. Almost
every day, Robert would park his ear on West Fifty-ninth
Place, go down the alley and into the back of the ceramics
shop. On the morning of September 20th, a witness testified
that he saw Robert open a window of the ceramies shop .at
about 9:10 or 9:15; at from 9:15 to 9:20 on the same morning,
Robert took the daughter to Despine’s mother’s home where
he was given a bowl of mush to take to Despine. Sometime

between 9 and 10, the morning of the 20th, Robert was seen
to park his car on Fifty-ninth Place and go toward the back

of it as if to go down the alley.

Mr. and Mrs. Miner operated a service station at 5924

-
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West Bonlevard in Los Angeles and lived in a house on an
adjoining lot. The service station was open from 6:30 a. m.
antil 7 p. m. every day except Sunday. On September 7,
1954, the Miners noticed a muddy Pontiac parked in the
vicinity of a telephone pole on West Boulevard facing south
in the direction of Fifty-ninth Place between 9 and 10 in
the morning ; a man was sitting behind the wheel in the car.
On the same day, at about 4 or 4:30 p. m., the Miners noticed
the same car parked in the same place with the same man
behind the wheel. Mr. Miner was able to read the word
“Michigan’ on the license plate. On each of the days from
Qeptember Tth through the 18th, with the exception of Sun-
day, the 12th, the Miners saw the same car, with what ap-
peared to be the same man, parked either by the telephone
pole on West Boulevard or on Fifty-ninth Place by the stop
sign, headed east toward West Boulevard, The man’s head,
when he was parked on West Boulevard, appeared to the
Miners to be facing south on West Boulevard and at times
he appeared to be looking at the gervice station. When the
man was parked on Fifty-ninth Place west of West Boulevard,
he appeared to Mrs. Miner to be looking in the direction of
the service station or straight ahead. On September 14, 1951,
Mr. Miner became suspicious and called the ear to the atten-
tion of a sergeant of the Police Department. The sergeant,
who was in sport clothes, off duty, and a customer of the
Miners, drove around behind the suspect car and ascertained
that the license plate read AA 6930 Michigan. He wrote the
number on the back of an envelope and gave it to the Miners.
The sergeant could not positively identify the defendant as
the man he had seen in the car. At one time, Mrs. Miner saw
the man out of the car walking north toward a flower shop
on the corner of Fifty-ninth Place. Mrs. Miner identified
the defendant as the man in the car. The Miners were both
familiar with the ceramics shop owned by the Forbeses and
knew both Despine and Robert.

About 9:15 a. m., September 20, 1954, Mr. Miner saw the
same Pontiac, with the same man in it, going west on Fifty-
ninth Place. After making the boulevard stop on West
Boulevard, the car turned south and passed from his sight;
within five minutes thereafter he saw the man who had been
driving the Pontiac walking around the apartment house
and then east on Fifty-ninth Place toward the alley, The man
turned his head and he and Mr. Miner stared at each other;

the man turned to his right at the alley and disappeared into
46 C.2d—18
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the alley. The man was identified by Mr. Miner as the
defendant.

About 9:15 a. m., Seplember 20, 1954, Mrs. Himons was
hanging up clothes in an areaway between the eeramics shop
and an apartment house when she saw a strange man enter
the areaway from West Boulevard and go into the first entry-
way (Simons’ enfry) in the building; she saw him lean out
of the entryway and look toward her; when she started toward
him he ran out of the west entrance the way he had come.
Mrs, Simons identified defendant from a picture of him and
said that she recognized the lower part of his face since the
man she had seen in the areaway had his hat pulled down
over his eyes. Sometime during the morning, she heard four
thumyping, thudding sounds coming from within the ceramies
shop ; the sounds were different from those she had previously
heard coming from the shop.

Around 9:45 a. m., September 20, 1954, Paul Yonadi left
his apartment at 3550 West Fifty-ninth Place and backed
his car out of the garage which was across the areaway from
the rear of the ceramics shop into the alley. Ie got out of
the car to close the garage door. At this time, he saw a man,
whom he identified as the defendant, come out of the wooden
gate at the rear of the ceramics shop. Mr. Yonadi and the
man looked at each other; the man then walked southward
down the alley without turning around.

At 11:25 a. m., September 20, 1954, a sheriff’s patrol officer
noted in his daily log that he had seen a 1952 Pontiae coach
with a Michigan license plate AA-69-30 standing without
a driver, or occupant, about 250 yards from the beach area
at Point Dume, which is about 12 miles from Santa Monica,
The officer searched the car but found no registration or
identification. He looked for someone having a possible con-
nection with the car but found no one. The driving time
between the ceramics shop and Point Dume was approxi=
mately 49 minutes.

Between 11:15 and 11:30 a. m., September 20, 1954, a
salesman who made regular calls at the ceramics shop with
bread, found the front door of the shop open. He rang
several times but no one answered. He opened the door
leading from the display room to the room in back thereof
and saw the body of Mr. Forbes lying on the floor. The police
were called, and when they arrived to investigate they found
the body of Mrs. Forbes in a room adjoining that in which
Mr. Forbes” body was found. Both Mr. and Mrs. Forbes
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1iad been killed by shots fired at either ex’creme}ydose range
_or by holding the gun in contact with the head. A woman’s
_purse was hanging on a ciothes raek it eantamed some eash

Departmellt was
membered that

o Seen that day.
Farty-faur latent fi

one of lead and'
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and a small kit into Pueblo. The defendant asked to be
let out at the bus depot to clean up before going to repori
the accident; defendant told the farmer that he was from
Texas and had been on his way to Salt Lake when he had a
flat tire; that he had turned to go back to Pueblo to have
the tire fixed. An officer patroling the road later the same
day found the wrecked car: in it he found a dictionary, a
book entitled ‘‘Investigator’s Handbook’’ with certain under.
lined passages, and a third book. The car was impounded
in Pueblo; no report was ever made of the aecident. The
record shows that it was possible for defendant to have been
at Point Dume at the time noted and close to Pueblo on
September 22d.

Defendant was arrested in Hot Springs, Arkansas, on
September 25, 1954, The officer sent to extradite him said
defendant said he had not been in Los Angeles for some
seven or eight vears. Defendant testified that he had arrived
in Los Angeles on September 3, 1954 ; that he left after five
or six days to go to Texas; that he arrived in Galveston,
Texas, a day or so before September 19th: that he saw his
father in Galveston; that on the 19th of September, he left
Galveston for Houston, which he left on the 20th; that he
arrived in Dallas on the 20th; that he left Dallas on the
20th after eating and getting gas for the Pontiae; that he
went to Oklahoma City, leaving there on the 21st for Amarillo,
Texas, on his way to Colorado; that he left Amarillo between
midnight and 3 in the morning on the 22d, headed for Colo-
rado on the way to Salt Lake City; that he passed through
Pueblo and headed west ; that he had a flat tire about 10 miles
outside Pueblo; that on the way back to Pueblo, he lost control
of the car which overturned; that a farmer drove him into
Pueblo where by telephone he notified the police of the acci-
dent. He ftestified that from the bus depot in Pueblo, he
took a bus to Oklahoma City where he bought a ticket to
Hot Springs, Arkansas, where he was arvested. Defendant
denied telling the officer he had not been in Los Angeles for
seven or eight years; and said that the guns® had been
temporarily left by a customer and appeared to be .22 ealiber
target pistols.

Derenpant’s Santry AT Tive oF TriAL

Defendant contends that the court erred in proceeding to
trial when, on the first day of trial, February 7, 1955, there

*Heretofore mentioned in Mr. Pappos’ testimony.
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was presented to the court the uncontradicted affidavit of
Jobhn Vernon Miller, M.D. (a duly licensed psychiatrist)
in which it was conecluded that “‘the subject is medieally and
legally insane at the time of [my] examination and at the
time of commitment of the alleged act.”” The report, which
is lengthy, shows that defendant is an epileptie, subject to
both grand and petit mal seizures; that in 1941 his release
from confinement in an army jail had been recommended
because it was felt he was ‘““mentally incompetent.”’

Section 1367 of the Penal Code provides: ““A person can-
not be tried, adjudged to punishment, or punished for a
public offense, while he is insane.”’

Section 1368 of the Penal Code provides: “*1f at any time
during the pendency of an action and prior to judgment a
doubt arises as to the sanity of the defendant, the court must
order the question as to his sanity to be determined by a trial
by the court without a jury, or with a jury, if a trial by
jury is demanded. . . .”’

The People argue that Dr. Miller’s affidavit was handed
to the court “‘regarding the plea of not guilty by reason of
insanity’’; that such a plea was thereupon entered and three
doctors appointed by the court fo examine the defendant:
that at no time did defendant’s counsel suggest that defendant
wag insane at the time of {rial so as to bring into play the
provisions of sections 1367 and 1368 of the Penal Code. Tt is
argued by the People that defendant’s connsel did not inti-
mate, by affidavit or otherwise, that defendant was un-
cooperative or that they were unable to obtain assistance

r information from him in preparing his defense. Dr. Mil-
ler’s affidavit shows, however, that ‘‘he [defendant] felt his
attorneys ‘were railroading me in’ and ‘trying to get my
money’ '’ that ‘“He [defendant] has been quite uncoopera-
tive with his attorneys and demanding; refusing to take
advice, feeling that they should believe he is innocent, they
should get angry at the people he is angry at, and that he
is supreme in his knowledge.”’

The reports of the three ecourt-appointed doctors were re-
ceived by the court approximately a week after the commence-
ment of the trial. Two of these reports show that the doctors
were of the opinion that defendant was sane at the time of
trial as well as at the time the crime was committed; the
third report was to the same effect, although stating that
defendant showed some ‘‘paranoid ideation.”’
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11 1In People v. Perry, 14 Cal2d 387, 399 [94 P.2d

559, 124 A LR. 1123}, we said: ““Ordinarily, the question
whether a ‘doubt’ has arisen as to the sanity of the defendant
is for the determination of the judge of the trial court. (People
v. Keyes, 178 Cal. 794, 802 [175 Y. 6] ; People v. Helleck, 126
Cal. 425, 428 {58 P. 918]; People v. Fountain, 170 Cal. 460,
467 [150 P. 34171 ; People v. West, 25 Cal.App. 369 [143 P.
7931.) And it is only where, as a matter of law, a ‘doubt’ may
be said to appear, or where there has been an abuse of the dis-
cretion that is vested in the trial judge, in the determination
of the question, that the conclusion of the latter properly
may be disturbed on appeal therefrom. (People v. Gilberg,
197 Cal. 306, 817 [240 P. 1000] ; People v. Moriarity, 61 Cal.
App. 223 [214 P. 485]; People v. Rosner, 78 Cal.App. 497
[248 P. 683] ; People v. Kirby, 15 Cal.App. 264 [114 P. 794];
People v. Little, 68 Cal.App. 674 [230 P. 178]; People v.
Hettick, 126 Cal. 425 [58 P. 918].)"" (People v. Aparicio,
38 Cal.2d 565 [241 P.2d 2217.) It was also said in the Perry
case, supra, that if the person whose sanity is in question is
capable of understanding the nature and object of the pro-
ceedings against him and can conduct his defense in a rational
manner, he should be deemed sane for the purpose of being
tried, though on some other subject his mind may be deranged
or unsound.

The report of one of the court-appointed doctors shows
that defendant resented the examinations; that he stated that
he resented the plea of not guilty by reason of insanity;
that he at all times claimed he was innocent of the crime
with which he was charged; that he refused to answer numer-
ous seemingly unrelated questions on the ground that his
refusal was on ““advice of counsel.”’

Closely related to this problem is that which oceurred after
the jury had returned a verdict of first degree murder with-
out recommendation :

“Tare Courr: . .. I understand there is a matter to be
taken up out of the presence of the jury. TLet the record
show the district attorney, defense counsel and the defendant
are present, Is there anything you gentlemen want to take
up before we proceed?

““Mr. Sovomon: T was going to make this statement, if
the Court please, that the defense is prepared to go ahead with
this plea of not guilty by reason of insanity. T understand,
though, Mr. Merkouris feels differently about it.

“Tpae DerENDANT: Yes, that is right.

:
2
.
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“ar Courr: Well, Mr. Merkouris, I think 1 should say
this to yvou, that T know that in the early part of the case,
hefore we ever started the trial, the plea of not guilty by
reason of insanity was put in for you by wour counsel. I
think he did that as a measure of protection.

“Tyam Derenpaxt: It was put in, though-——-o

e Covwrt: Let me finish, just a minute, please.

3 think he did that as a matter of protection, because
if oceasion would arise, that plea would have to be entered
before the Court started its trial. 1T will say if I had been
in his place T would have done exactly the same thing, and
1've been practicing law a few years myself. He’s heen
practicing law a great many years. We had also the advan-
tage of vour other two attorneys.

“We have mow got to the point where the next step in
the trial would be the trial of that question of not guilty by
reason of insanity. Now, you have indicated that you don’t
want that trial.

“"‘m«‘ Drrenpant: 1 don’t want what?

Tur Courr: You don’t want to be tried on this question
of insanity.

“Tae DErEnpANT: Yes, that is correct.

“Tae Courr: Do you want to withdraw your plea of not
guilty ?

“Tae Derenpant: The plea was entered over my objec-
tion.

“Taw Courr: I understand.

“Trar DEFPENDANT: As I explained to these men, it earried
an implication of guilty, and that was one of the main reasons
why these people convieted me. Well, that’s beside the point
now. I understand that; in any event I want the plea with-
drawn right now, because as far as T can see it’s useless.

“Tur Covrr: T want vou to thoroughly understand the
effect of this situation. I'm not going to talk about your
case, I'm going to talk about cases in which both pleas are
enfered. If a defendant is tried for an offense and found
guilty, and also has the plea of not guilty by reason of in-
sanity, we next try in regular order the question as to that
plea of insanity, is the man legally insane or is he legally
Satie?

Taw Derespanr: | anderstand that.

“Tar Courr: I the jury found him Jegally sane, then
the other verdict of gnilty stands; if he is legally insane
that operates as an acquittal. Now, that is an opportunity
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vou have under the plea of not guilty by reason of insanity,

“Pan DerexpantT:  Well, no, to me that still ecarries an
iraplication of guilty, and T see no reason why I should give
guch an implieation. As I said before, I did not commit these
crimes and I don’t eare for that implication to go into the
record. If those people want to conviet me of crimes I did
not eommit, that’s their business, I understand that.

“Tuar Courr: You understand also

“Toap Derenpsnt: I understand what you mean,

“Tar Courr: Your lawyers advised you to stand on your
plea and to go trial.

“Tur DerenpanNT: You're looking at it from a lawyer’s
viewpoint, but the jury is not.

“Tur Courr: Well, of course, we can’t view it also from
the defendant’s viewpoint, he’s sitting in a different seat
locking at it.

“Tur DerenpanT: 1 want it withdrawn.

“Tue Courr: You definitely do not want to try this ques-
tion of insanity.

“Tar Drrenpant: No.

“Tur Courr: You want to withdraw the plea? You un-
derstand if you do withdraw it, you stand convicted of first
degree murder with the death penalty?

“Tor DErExDANT: 1 understand.

“Toe Courr: The only possibility you’'ve got is the chance
something will be accomplished ?

“Tre DerexpanT: Yes, I understand.

“Tar Courr: Let the record show the plea of not guilty
by reason of insanity has been withdrawn.”’

It is contended by the defense that the trial court com-
mitted prejudicial error in permitting defendant himself to
withdraw the plea of not guilty by reason of insanity when
he was represented by counsel and when the defendant’s
sanity was the very issue involved.

Prior to the commencement of the trial itself, the court
had before it an affidavit of a qualified psychiatrist in which
it was averred, without any equivocation, that the defendant
was medically and legally insane at the time of trial, as well
as at the time the alleged act was committed. The Penal
Code provides (§1368) that “‘If at any time during the
pendency of an action . . . a doubt arises as to the sanity
of the defendant, the court must order the question as to his
sanity to be determined by a trial by the court without a
jury, or with a jury, if a trial by jury is demanded. . ..”
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[t appears that a doubt as to the defendant’s sanity
arise in the mind of the trial court after he had read
eport of Dr. Miller who was on the court list of psychia-
8. The record shows that the court, after reading the
lavit, and alter being told that the defendant did not
g plea of not guilty by reason of insanity entered, said:
‘1 think, under these elrewmstances, the Court would be
Hed to accept a plea of not gnilty by reason of insanity.”’
phasis added.) At the same time, the court appointed
» other psyehiatrists {o examine the defendant. 1t appears
i« u omatier of law that there was, at that timse, a doubt in
mind of the court as to defendant’s sanity. (People v.
Ving, 42 Cal. 18, 21.) We said i People v. Aparicio,

38 Cal2d 565, 568 [241 P.2d 2211, that ““when a doubt of
the defendant’s sanity . . . appe: us on the face of the record
as a matter of law, an abuse of diseretion is shown and the
fatlure to order a determination of the question of sanity
cqnlts in a miscarriage of justice and a reversal is required.

,’M;ple v. Vester, 135 Cal.App. 223 [26 P.2d 685]; People v.
s, supra, 25 Cal.App. 369 [143 P, 7931.) 7

53} Taking the evidence concerning defendant’s sanity
sflected In the record, we see that three court-appointed
psvehiatrists considered him sane at the time of trial as well

e at the time the erime was committed ; we see that one
independent psychiatrist considered him both legally and
medically insane at both times. This conflict in the medieal
nee was sufficient to make the question one of fact which
ould have been tried. The colloquy between the court and
the defendant relative to a withdrawal of the plea of not
ilty by reason of insanity shows that the defendant did
i understand the gravity of his predicament. (People v.
on, 43 Cal.2d 572, 576 [275 P.2d 25]; People v. Gomesz,
Cal.2d 150, 158 [258 P.2d 8251 ; People v. Aparicio, 38
CalZd 565, 576 [241 P.2d 221].) He did not want, so he
i, for the jury to have before it the ““implication of gnilt.”’
hionld be remembered that this desire of defendant’s was
ssed aftfer the jury had found him gwilty of murder in
first degree without recommendation.
{261 Tt is our conclusion that the trial court abused its
retion in not trying the issne of defendant’s sanity at
12 commencement of the trial and in permitting the defend-
ant, over the implied objection of his counsel, to withdraw
hig plea of not guilty by reason of insanity. The People’s
argiiment that defense counsel did not effer Dr. Miller’s affi-

eV
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davit at the commencement of the trial so as to obtain a trial
on that issue prior to the commencement of the trial, is
immaterial. The section specifically provides that if a doubt
arvises as to the defendant’s sanity, the court ““must order
the question’ to be tried. [4] 1t is the duty of the court
to order an inguisition, upon its own motion, if at any time
a doubt arises as to a defendant’s present sanity. We said
in People v. Aparicio, 38 Cal.2d 565, 568 [241 P.2d 2211, that
“The failure of the defendant . . . to plead that he was
then insane within the meaning of the section is not con.
trolling. The duty imposed upon the trial judge by the
statute is not conditioned on a motion in reliance on the
code provision.”” {People v. Ah Ying, 42 Cal. 18, 21: People
v. Vester, 135 Cal.App. 223, 237 [26 P.2d 685]; People v.
Sloper, 198 Cal. 601, 606 [246 P. 802].) In People v. Vester,
135 Cal.App. 223, 228 [26 P.2d 685], it was said: ‘“‘If, then,
as a matter of law 1t appear that the facts were such that
necessarily a ‘doubt’ must or should have arisen (and not
simply that as a privilege, or as a favor, such a conclusion
might, or might not, have been accorded to defendant, de-
pendent upon the discretion of the trial judge), it becomes
clear that in the failure by the trial judge to decide that a
‘doubt’ had arisen as to the sanity of defendant, and there-
upon to order that ‘the question as to his sanity . . . be sub-
mitted to a jury,” an omission by the trial court to exercise
what may be termed a jurisdictional duty resulted, with the
inevitable consequence that defendant was prejudiced in his
substantial right in the premises.”’

[5] Defendant was represented by counsel and ‘It is
settled that the attorney of record has the exclusive right to
appear in court for his client and to control the court pro-
ceedings, so that neither the party himself (Anglo Cali-
fornia Trust Co. v. Kelly, 95 Cal.App. 390 [272 P. 10801;

Boca ete. B. R. Co. v. Superior Court, 150 Cal. 153 [88 P. .

7157 ; Eleciric Utilities Co. v. Smallpage, 137 Cal.App. 642,
643 [31 P.2d 4127 ; Toy v. Haskell, 128 Cal. 558 [61 P. 89, 79
Am S8t Rep. 701; Crescent Canal Co. v. Montgomery, 124
Jal. 134 [56 P. 7971 ; Wylie v. Sterra Gold Co., 120 Cal. 485
[52 P. 809]; Mott v. Foster, 45 Cal. 72; Board of Commas-

stoners v. Younger, 29 Cal. 147 [87 Am.Dee. 164]), nor an-;

other attorney (Johnston v. City of San Fernando, 35 Cal.
App.2d 244, 247 [95 P.2d 147]; Drummond v. West, 212
Cal. 766, 769 [300 P. 8231 ; McMahon v. Thomas, 114 Cal. 588
[46 P. 732] ; Prescott v. Salthouse, 53 Cal. 221; Hobbs v. Duff,

i R A
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al, 485 18 CalJur, 637]), can be recognim& by the court
he conduct or disposition of the case. (Board of Com-
sioners v. Younger, supra; Crescent Canal Co. v. Moni-
1 Y {Hmphasis added; Wells Pargo & Co. v.
(il Y & f*fnfmu of San Francisco, 25 (al.2d 37, 42, 43 1152 P .24

o Zurich Gen. Ace. & Liab., Ins. Co., Lid. v. Kinsler,
i"ﬁ 98, 105, 106 [81 1.2d 9131.) Considering the fact
defense counsel desired to proceed with the trial on the
p of not guilty by reason of insanity and the further fact
that a doubt existed as to defendant’s sanity, it appears that
ihe trial court elearly abused its diseretion in permitling
wdant personally to withdraw his plea of not ouilty by
reason of insanity.

InrorMATION

{87 Defendant counfends that the trial court committed
prejudicial misconduet in permitting the admission of evi-
dence relative to the death of Robert Forbes when the distriet
attorney had elected fo proceed solely on the information
charging him with the murder of Despine Forbes. 1t is
contended that the admission of this evidence was so prej-
udicial as to deprive him of due process of law within the
meaning of both the federal and California Constitutions.

1t appears that here the evidence complained of showed
more than merely eriminal disposition and was properly ad-
mitted as part of the res gestae, or because it helped to dis-
close motive, intent, or a common plan or scheme, The vietims
met their deaths in the same manner and, from all that ap-
pears, at approximately the same time. The jury was properly
instructed concerning the limited purpose for which such
evidence was received,

Arvearp Presvproian Misconpuer or Trian Counr
[71 It s eontended that the trial couri was cuilty of
prejudicial miseonduet in informing defendant that if he

s

de another outburst, he would bhe gagged.

[t ot
ter the aut (mw sm‘ﬂom had testified concerning his
nnation of the body of Robert Forbes, the following oc-
eurred

ATl vight, now, yvou go abead and ill

’

nstrate what yvou
ll;i\,w Just testified abent conceraing that {irst wound.
Toe Courr: (To defense counsel) Not o quite so loud,
gentlemen, 1 can hear what vou say up here.
“Tae Durpspant: Wait! T would like 10 make a remark
at thig time,
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“Prae Courr: (To the defendant) You sit down.

“Targ DEFENDANT: I'm being tried on one count. You are
highly prejudieisl, in my opinion.

“Tag Court: I don’t eare anything about your opinion.

“Tar Derenpant: You are conducting this trial in a
partial manner, in a prejudicial manner. You are frying me
here for one count. You are showing pictures of two people
who were killed.

“Tge Court: I’'m running this trial,

“Tyy DerENpANT: You are running this trial in a very
prejudicial manner.

“mar Courr: You may proceed, Mr. Leavy.

“Tae DerENDANT: You stupid old fool!

“Tae Wirness: Wound Number 1

““Mgr. Lmavy: Doctor, T don’t mean to interrupt you when
you point out this

“Tur DerEnpANT: You may have written a few books on
law, but you haven’t learned anything. You not only have a
bungling police department

“Tar Courr: That’s enough, I want to inform counsel—-

“TaE DEFENDANT: but an unserupulous prosecutor.

““Tur Courr: According to People versus Harris, T have a
right to order this man to be gagged so that he can’t make any
noise, and I shall do so if we have any further disturbance
along this line,”’

In People v. Harris, 45 Cal.App. 547, 552-553 [188 P, 65],
a similar occurrence took place and the court threatened in the
presence of the jury to gag the defendant. It was there
said: “‘It was the right of the defendant to be present at his
trial and this right, notwithstanding his obstreperous con-
duet, was accorded him. Tt is the duty of a judge in the ad-
ministration of justice to preserve the order of the court
and to see to it that all persons whomsoever, ineluding the de-
fendant himself, indulge in no act or conduet calculated to
obstruct the administration of justice.”” In People v. Loomss,
27 Cal.App.2d 236, 239 [80 P.2d 10121, the defendant, be-
cause of his loud and tumultuous conduet during the trial,
was strapped to a chair and gagged. It was there held that
““There can be no doubt as to the right of the court to use
reasonable restraint in order to conduet the trial in an ovderly
and dignified manner.”” In view of the defendant’s conduct,
no prejudicial misconduct on the part of the trial court ap-
pears.

e T T G R R
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Hearsay Evmence
1t is first contended that the court erred in admitting evi-
_ denee concerning the letters written by defendant to the two
 victims. Tt will be recalled that the letters themselves had
_ been destroyed by Inspector Wood and that he was permitted
to testify concerning his reeollection of their contents, It
will also be recalled that the letter to Robert Forbes told him
1ot 1o worry about his wife’s alleged sexual degeneracy be-
_cause he would not be around long. It is arpued by de-
_ fendant that the threat, if any, was against Robert, and not
_ Despine with whose murder he is charged. In this eonnec-
_ tion it i also argued that the evidence concerning the letters
_is 5o remote as to be immaterial and irrelevant. [8] In an-
~ swer to the first argument, in People v. Wilt, 173 Cal. 477,
452483 1160 P, 5611, it was said {quoting from People v.
Bezy), 67 Cal. 223 [T P, 643]): ¢ ‘While threats against
the deceased are admissible in evidence to show malice, threats
agcainst another person are only admitted under circum-
 stances which show some connection with the miury inflicted
on the decensed.’ (The italies are ours.) Where a sufficient
connection is shown such threats are clearly admissible’’
[9] The evidence here showed that both persons had been
killed in the same manner and, presumably, at approximately
the same time. The letter to Despine which accused her of
being a sexual degemerate could certainly be considered a
malicious letter and the one to Robert a threat becanse of his
marriave to Despine. (People v. Hong Ah Duek, 61 Cal
387, 390: People v. Chaves, 122 Cal. 134, 143 [54 P 596]:
People v. De Moss, 4 Cal.2d 469, 474 [50 P.2d 1031].)
1101 'The court did not err in admitting secondary evi-
dence of the contents of the letters inasmuch as proof of the
destruetion thereof was first made by Inspector Wood who
later testified as to the eontents of the letters, Section 1855
of the Cade of Civil Procedure provides that ‘‘ There ean be
1o evidence of the contents of a writing, other thau the writing
itself, except in the following eases:

“1 When the original has been lost or destmyed
which case proof of the loss or destruction must ﬁrst be
made., . .)) The same section also provides that when a
writing has been lost or destroyed, either a copy thereof or
oral evidence as to the contents may be admitted. [People v.
Guasts, 110 Cal. App.2d 456, 462, 463 [243 P.2d 59] ;: Deacon
v, Bryam, 88 Cal App. 322, 324 1263 P, 8711) .
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[11] Defendant’s argument concerning the remoteness in
point of time of the letfers and the deaths of the Forbeses goes
to the weight of the evidence rather than its admissibility.
{(People v. De Moss, 4 Cal.2d 460, 474 |50 P.2d 10317]; People
v. Brown, 76 Cal. 573, 574 |18 1. 6781.)

It is next contended that the trial court erred in admitting
in evidence copies of certain recordings. The police officer who
went to Arkansas after defendant made, while there, certain
recordings of his first conversation with defendant. When
the officer returned to Lios Angeles, he made a copy thereof
on another type of machine. At the trial, defense counsel
did not object to the use of the copy which was played be-
cause ifs sound facilities were better. In addition, the orig-
inal recording was also played.

Evidence was admitted to show the copy was a true and
correct one and defendant was advised by the trial court
prior to the playing of the copy of the recording that it
was secondary evidence. [12] Both the original recording
and the copy thereof were admitted in evidenee without
objection, and the original, as well as the copy, was played
to the jury. Under the circumstances here present, defendant
cannot now complain that a copy of the original recording
was played to the jury. (People v. Porter, 105 Cal.App.2d
324, 331 [233 P.2d 102]; People v. Wignall, 125 Cal.App.
465, 474 [13 P.2d 995]; People v. Sellas, 114 Cal.App. 367,
378 [300 P. 150].)

[13] Defendant also complains that certain notes and a
written transeription of the tape recording used by the
officer were erroneously admitted in evidence over objee-
tion. The record shows that the notes were used pursunant to
section 2047 of the Code of Civil Procedure.* The record
shows that the questioned writings were marked for identifica-
tion ; that the court informed all attorneys they might see and
use them, to which defense counsel replied, ‘‘Thank you
very much.”’

A witness is allowed to refresh his memory respecting a fact, by
anything written by himself, or under his direction, at the time when the
faet occurred, or immediately thereafter, or at any other time when
the faet was fresh in his memory, and he knew that the same was cor-
rectly stated in the writing. But in such ease the writing must be
produced, and may be seen by the adverse party, who may, if he choose,
cross-examine the witness upon it, and may read it to the jury. So, also,
o witness may testify from such a writing, though he retain no recollec-
tion of the particular facts, but such evidence must be received with
caution,’’

:
g
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Invernrorion O Lvivg Ty Warr
{147 Defendant contends that the court committed prej-
nedicial error in g‘iwrm‘ the jury an insiruetion on lving in
Section 189 of the Penal Code provides that all murder
etrated by lving m walt is murder of degree.
evidence on which this instructio heern
ofore s rth. Tt will be recalled
itrfied as the man who had heen s g car, also
wifled as his, between j” and 10 in th and 4 and
e afternoons of September Tth H mug‘h the 18th
it the exeeption of Sunday, the ‘”’*Tﬂ and that fhe ear
qas 50 parked that its occup sant eonld see the eeramies shop
e ﬂ e erime later occurred. Tt will also be veealled that
ough defendant was seen in the vieinity of the ceramies
poon the morning in question, he was not seen parked on
street as hefore.
his court has said that in order fo constitute Iving in
wail the fé!wmom:q of waiting, watehing and concealment must
present {People v. Sutie, 41 Cal.2d 483, 492 [261 P.2d
9411 People v. Byrd, 42 Cal2d 200, 209 [266 P.2d 5057 .
People vo Tuthell, 31 Cal2d 92, 101 187 P24 16]). We
w here the elements of waiting and walching, but the
ord is devoid of any evidence tending to show that the
defendant made any attempt to conceal himself or to keep
3t presence in the vicinity of the shop a seeret. In the
Sntie case, it was held that ““concealment in ambush’ was not
ICOSSATY and that the cvidence there fully justified the jury’s
finding ““that the homicide was the result of (’!Ofend(mi 8§ in-
rent o kill and was accomplished by his ‘Iyving in wait” until
I}?w “pm*hme tinte to strike. . . .77 (41 Cal.2d 483, 492, 493.)
i the T nthﬂl case, it was hohl that the lving in wait was
“fmeans’ throneh which defendant accomplished his

ri

5]

&
t
IR H

prarpose.”” (31 Cal2d 92, 101} In the Byrd case, the evi-
denee showed that defendant waited outside his wife’s honge

armed with a gun and that the murder ocearred that night
47 Cal2d 200, 209). Tn these three cases the killings oe-
carred shortly after the “1\'1110 it wait,” and Tving in wait

wothe “means’ throuel whieh each defendant aceomplished
the hiomieide. Tn the present ease, the Killings occurved on
Hee orning of the 2000 the Tast tone defendant had been
sect parked dn s ocar o the viemtly was on the 18th: he
ot seen watehing or waliing on the moraineg of {he
althoneh he was scen deiving his car 1 that vieinity
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at that time. The facts in the case under consideration do
not appear to us to justify a lying in wait instruction. The
killings were not accomplished through defendant’s watchful
waiting in his car; there was no attempt at either concealment
or secreey ; and the killings did not follow on the heels of the
watchful waiting.

If, as we have concluded, the evidence is not sufficient o
justify the lying in wait instruction, there can be no doubt
that the defendant was seriously prejudiced thereby sinee
if the killing was committed by lying in wait, it was murder
of the first degree by force of the statute (Pen. Code, §189)
and the question of premeditation was not further involved
(People v. Byrd, 42 Cal.2d 200, 209 [266 P.2d 505]; People
v. Tuthdll, 31 Cal.2d 92, 99 [187 P.2d 16]).

Two ReasonaBLE Toeorizs INSTRUCTION

[16] Tt is next contended that the trial court erred in
refusing to instruet the jury concerning its duty if the evi-
dence was susceptible of two reasonable theories.

Defendant offered this instruetion: ‘‘If the evidence in
this case is susceptible of two constructions or interpreta-
tions, each of which appears to you to be reasonable, and one
of which points to the guilt of the defendant, and the other
to his innocence, it is your duty, under the law, to adopt that
interpretation which will admit of the defendant’s innocence,
and reject that which points to his guilt.

“You will notice that this rule applies only when both
of the two possible opposing conclusions appear to you to be
reasonable. If, on the other hand, one of the possible con-
clusions should appear to you to be reasonable and the other
to be unreasonable, it would be your duty to adhere to the
reasonable deduction and to reject the unreasonable, bearing
in mind, however, that even if the reasonable deduction points
to defendant’s guilt, the entire proof must carry the con-
vineing foree required by law to support a verdiet of guilty
beyond a reasonable doubt.”’

The court instructed the jury as follows: **A defendant
in a criminal aection is presumed to be innocent until the
contrary is proved, and in case of a reasonable doubt whether

his guilt is satisfactorily shown, he is entitled to an ac-

quittal, but the effect of this presumption is only to place
upon the State the burden of proving him guilty beyond a

reasonable doubt. Reasonable doubt is defined as follows: It

is not a mere possible doubt; because everything relating to
human affairs, and depending on moral evidence, is open to
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possible or imaginary doubt. It is that
which, after the entire wmxpuzi
the evidence, leaves the minds of the
detion that they eannot sav they feel an
tion, 1o a moeral eertainty, of the truth of the
Two classes of evidence are 1*0{3{:3;3‘35;{5* ,
of justice, upon either or both of whiel
may base their findings, whether fm
ie or to the defendant, provided, howeve
a verdiet of guilt, the (ﬂ"i(?mx(&o *f\'?
other, or a combination of hoth, my ATy 1l
g quality required by law, as stated in my instruc
£ and the

noand

tons,
¢ other as

One type of evidenee is known as diree @
civenmastantial. The law makes no (mtnie? on between the
tywn sffl*“sss:os as to the degree of proof requived for conviction

their effectiveness in defendant’s favor, but respects
for such eonvincing foree as it may carry and accepls
1 as a reasonable method of proof.
“Direct evidence of a person’s conduct at any time in
ion consists of the testimony of every wits ¥

s who, with
any of his own physical senses, perceived such ﬁom”%u(:t or
any part thereof, and which 165&{%1‘{101"1}* deseribes or rvelates
what thus was perceived. All other evidence admitted in
the trial is cireumstantial in relation to such conduet, and,
in so far as it shows any act, statement or other conduet,
ar any eircumstance or faet tending to prove, by reagonable
inference the innoecence or guilt of the defendant, it may be
considered by vou in arriving at a verdict.

“F Ws‘z‘mwf you further that you are nol pern

cirenmstaonticl evidence alone, to find the (Tff(n(?m: m!@?!“,’
of | E’sf' erime charged against him mﬂcw the proved cireum-

es not only are consistent with the hypothesis that the
fendant is guilty of the erime, but are irreconcilable awith
vif other rational conclusion.”’  (FEmphasis added.)

In People v. Bender, 27 Cal 24 164, 175, 177 1163 724 &}
{relied upon by defendant) we said in holding that the trisl
conrt ghonld give an instruetion of ifs own motion embodying
the prineiple ¢ “that, to justify a conviction. the facts or
cirenmstanees must not only be entirely consistent with the

theory of guilt buat must be inconsistent with any other
rational conclusion.” ”” (8§ CalJur. 371, $4053)  Wa also
said there that the jury had been told that ©“ “1f the av

this ease is susceptible of two eonstructions or interpreta-
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tions, each of which appears to you to be reasonable, and one
of which points to the guilt of the defendant, and the other
to his innocence, it is your duty, under the law, to adopt that
interpretation which will admit of the defendant’s innocence,
and reject that which points to his guilt.” Thes instruction
s enunently proper as far as of goes. To it should hove been
added a direct statement of the precise principle under dis-
cussion.””  (Emphasis added.) It will be noted that in the
case under consideration, the ““precise principle’’ was given
to the jury, but the instruection which was given in the
Bender case was here omitted. In the Bender case, we held
that under the facts there presented, the failure to instruct
fully was not ground for reversal.

The evidence here is entirely cireumstantial. No murder
weapon (or weapons) were ever found ; no fingerprints match-
ing those of defendant were found in the ceramies shop.
The most ineriminating evidence against defendant is that he
was identified as the man coming out of the back gate of the
ceramies shop. Defendant’s theory was that he was not
guilty ; that he was not in Lios Angeles on the 20th, although
he admitted having been there on the 3d through the 8th
or 9th of September when he left for Texas. TFrom the
résumé of the evidence heretofore set forth, it appears that
at the time the case was submitted to the jury reasonable
inferences of either guilt or innocence could have been drawn
therefrom. The jury could have disbelieved the identifica-
tion testimony of Mr. Yonadi who said it was the defendant
he saw coming out of the back gate; it eould have disbelieved
the festimony of Mrs. Simons who said that the defendant
was the man she had seen in the areaway because she recog-
nized ‘‘the lower part of his face’ from a colored picture.
[nder the circumstances here presented, that part of de-
fendant’s instruction bearing upon two reasonable interpreta-
tions, or constructions, of the evidence should have been given.

Defendant’s offered instruction was refused because the
trial court felt that it was not good law in that it ‘‘virtunally
says that when the evidence is equally balanced the defend-
ant is entitled to a verdiet of aequittal’” and beeause it
was in conflict with the reasonable doubt instruction. [167 In
a criminal ease the prosecution must prove the defendant
guilty bevond a reasonable doubt.  Therefore, if the evidence
is equally balanced, the defendant is entitled to an acquittal.
Further, there is in the proposed instruction nothing incon-
sistent with the instruction on reasonable doubt. The offered
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instruetion was a corrveet statement of the applieable Taw and
should have heen given.

The judement and the order denying the motion for a new
prial ave reversed.

Traynor, J., Schauer, J., and McComb, J., conenrred.
SPENCE, J—1 dissent. :

The majorily opinion bases the reversal upon the econ-
clusion that the trial court committed prejudicial ervor in
the following respects: (1) In failing to try the question
of defendant’s sanity at the ecommencement of the trial; (2)
In permitting defendant to withdraw his plea of not guilty
by reason of insanity following the trial on the plea of not
guilty; (3) In giving an instruction on the subject of lying
in wait; and (4) In failing to give a certain requested in-
struction relating to cireumstantial evidence. In my opinion,
a review of the record, including the evidence, shows that
defendant was aceorded a fair trial, free from any prejudiecial
error; that defendant was properly convieted of a deliberate
and premeditated murder perpetrated by means of lying in
wait; and that no ground for reversal has been shown as
there has been no ‘‘miscarriage of justice.”” (Const., art.
Vi, §414)

1t may be conceded at the outset that defendant was an
unusual type of person, whose history and actions may be
said to have evideneced some deviation from the normal. The
same may be said, however, concerning a large percentage
of persons who commit serious crimes; but this does not in-
dicate that such persons have not the requisite capacity to
be subject to trial and convietion for the offenses which they
cormmit. It is only eertain types of incapacities, within the
broad meaning of the word ‘‘insane,”” which deprive a per-
son of sufficient capacity to stand trial upon eriminal charges
(People v. Perry, 14 Cal.2d 387, 399 {94 P.2d 559, 124 A LR,
11237 ; People v. Kirby, 15 Cal.App. 264, 268 [114 P. 7941)
or which deprive him of sufficient capacity to be held erim-
inally responsible for his acts. (People v. Kimball, 5 Clal.2d
608, 610 [55 P.2d 483].) It is for this reason that mere
opinion evidence that a person is “‘insane’ or of “‘unsound
mind,”” which often means no more than that there is some
deviation from the normal in some respect, has been held in
civil cases to be insufficient to show lack of capacity of the
individual for a particular purpose. (Estate of Lingen-
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felter, 38 Cal2d 571, 580 [241 P.2d 990]; Estate of Arnold,
16 Cal2d 573, 585-587 [107 P.2d 25].) Furthermore, it is
well established in criminal cases that if a person ‘‘is capable
of understanding the nature and object of the proceedings
against him and can eonduct his defense in a rational man-
ner, he should be deemed sane for the purpose of being
tried, though on some other subjects his mind may be de.
ranged or unsound.”” (People v. Perry, supre, 14 Cal.2d
387, 899, and authorities cited.) This general subjeet was
discussed at length in I'n re Buchanan, 129 Cal. 330 [61 P.
1120, 50 L.R.A. 3781, and the rule applicable here was re.
cently reiterated by this court in People v. Aparicio, 38 Cal.
2d 565, where it was said at page 568 {241 P.2d 221]: ““Hven
the testimony of experts as to insanity in a general sense
iz not sufficient to create a doubt insofar as that testimony
does not relate to the defendant’s ability to conduet his
own defense. (People v. Darling, 107 Cal.App.2d 635 [237
P.24 6917 ; see also People v. Huntoon, 41 Cal. App. 392 [182
P.o7761.) 7

In the present case, a reading of the record, including
defendant’s testimony and his other statements made during
the course of the trial, leaves no doubt that defendant ap-
peared to be an intelligent and rational person, although
perhaps not possessed of the best judgment. In addition, the
considered opinions of the three court-appointed experts who
examined him during the course of the trial showed that
defendant was sane both at the time he committed the offense
and at the time of trial. Defendant obviously was keenly
aware of the nature of the charge and of the proceedings,
and had quite definite ideas concerning the manner in which
he wanted the case fried. It appears that from the outset he
resisted any suggestion of entering a plea of not guilty by
reason of insanity. He was represented by able counsel, who
no doubt realized that the evidence would clearly indieate
that defendant had killed the victims, and that it might be
advisable under the circumstances to interpose the additional
plea of not guilty by reason of insanity. In this eonnection,
counsel obtained the affidavit of Dr. Miller and presented
it to the court, but without any suggestion that anyone was
of the opinion that defendant then lacked the capacity to
stand trial upon the charge against him. On the contrary,
the affidavit was presented by counsel solely ‘‘regarding the
plea of not guilty by reason of insanity.”” The court there-
upon accepted that plea and appointed, as was its duty, three
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?“’E’S to e "u’nine defendant with

mgomty opinion eoncludes
ed its discretion in wnot trylng the iss
v at the commencement of the trigl”’
< é s conclusion, The trial conrt hae
rve defendant’s previous ;
inary proceedings leading up to the tims of {
Dr. Miller’s affidavit on Ifebruary 7, 1955, the i

rst day of
the trial.  We cannot assume that such previous conduet
manifested any degree of ntelligence and f‘<1t;<;n;‘g,sééy less

U')at n’lanifecs?‘e(’x ”bv ‘o‘femiiant thr«;»ns_’r}uéazi the {rigl.
ime that
nﬁant ]dd\eﬁ the caps uty ’m %mﬂ {rial; nor 8“2 Dr.
; aﬁ‘zdamt Gﬂmmnx.zgf his bald conclusion that de-
fendant was ‘“‘insane,”’ include any statement of opinion
that defendant was not “‘capable of understanding the nature
and objeet of the proceedings flhqzm‘x him and [eondusting]
his defense in a rational manner.”” {People v. Perry, supra,
14 Cal2d 387, 399 Under these circumstances, it cannof
b-a said as a matter Oi‘ law that a ““doubt’’ should bave arisen
1 the trial court’s mind concerning defendant’s capacity to
;/.‘.J trial; nor ean it be said that the {rial court abused its
retion in failing to order a trial of that question. (People
Jensen, 43 Cal.2d 572, 576 [275 1.2d 25] ; People v. Gomez,
41 Cal2a 150, 158-159 (258 P.24 8251,
With regpect to the withdrawal of "Ew slea of not guilty
by reason of insanity, the mayon*v {)pmm: concludes that
the H' al court abused its discretion ““in permit
lant, over the implied objection of hix connsel, to with-
w his plea of not gnilty by reason of m»mz*v 77 There
sdnmuwﬂv no express objection of counsel, and 1 find
n:z hing in the record which may be said to constitute an
“implied objection’ of counsel. Following the verdiet on
the plea of not guilty, counsel was still keenly aware of
-ndant’s objection to the defense of insanity. Counsel
nevertheless placed in a difficult position. The trial
. had aceepted the plea of not guilty by reagon of in-
v, and counsel apparently felt under a duty fo express
s willingness to try the issue thus presented despite eoun-
g knowledge of defendant’s manifested intelligence and
rationality throughout the proeeedings, of defendant’s in-
sigtence upon hig sanity, and of the unanimons opinions of
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the court-appointed experts that defendant was sane at all
times. All of these faects clearly indicated that defendant
would be found sane upon any trial of the issue. Counsel
therefore merely stated: ‘I was going to make this statement,
if the Court please, that the defense is prepared to go ahead
with this plea of not guilty by reason of insanity. I under-
stand, though, Mr. Merkouris feels differently about it.”
Then followed an extended discussion between court and de-
fendant, which included defendant’s repeated insistence that
he definitely did not want a trial on the insanity issue and
ended with the court’s statement: ‘‘Liet the record show the
plea of not guilty by reason of insanity has been withdrawn.”’
Counsel did not enter into this discussion or advance any
obhjection thereto or to the final deelaration of the court con-
cerning withdrawal of the plea. The record therefore in-
dicates final acquiescence by counsel in, rather than any
“implied objection’” to, defendant’s withdrawal of the ples
of not guilty by reason of insanity. The situation is quite
similar to that presented in People v. Perry, supra, 14 Cal.
2d 387, where ‘‘defendant, in person,”’ withdrew the plea
althongh his counsel had previously stated, “‘I am willing
to proceed with this insanity plea.”” (P. 396.) I am there-
fore of the opinion that there was neither error nor an abuse
of discretion on the part of the trial court in permitting the
withdrawal of the plea, and manifestly there was no prej-
udice,

‘With respect to the instructions, the majority opinion
concludes that the trial court committed prejudicial error
in giving any instruction on the subject of lying in wait,
as ‘‘the evidence is not sufficient to justify the lying in wait
instruction.”” 1 cannot join in this conclusion, as T do not
believe it can be reconciled with the decisions of this court in
People v. Byrd, 42 Cal.2d 200 {266 P.2d 505]; People v.
Sutic, 41 Cal.2d 483 [261 P.2d 241]; and People v. Tuthill,
31 Cal.2d 92 [187 P.2d 16].

From the evidence set forth in the majority opinion, the
jury could properly infer that defendant had long enter-

tained the deliberate and premeditated intention of killing

his vietims; that he had obtained guns for that particular
purpose; that he had traveled from Detroit to Los Angeles
in a Pontiae automobile and registered under an assumed
name to conceal his identity; that he had waited in, and
watched from, his automobile in the vicinity of his vietims’
place of business for long hours during many days pre-
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_ceding, as well as on the day of the killing, seeking the op-
oriunity to take his vietims by surprise and to accomplish
i« purpose al a time when his intended victimg were {o-
other and no other person was present 1n their place of busic
ess; and that he finally accomplished his purpose on Sep-
ember 20, 1954 by means of sueh lying in wait,
 The magomty opinion states: “‘ We have here the clements
{ waitine and watchine, but the record is deveid of any evi
ence tending to show that the defendant made any afttempt
o conceal himself or to keep his presence in the vieinity
£ the shop a seeret.’’ 1In my opinion, there was ample evie
lence to show that all the necessary elements of lying in wait
vere present. The ‘‘concealment’’ which is mentioned in con-

nection with lying in wait has never been held to mean com-

plete concealment from everyone. Buch ecomplete conceal
nt is ordinarily impossible. All that is requirved, or shounld
required, is evidence showmg an attempt on the part of
‘he murderer to conceal his presence from his intended vie-
while watching and waiting for the opportune time to
carry out his purpose. Thus, evidence of watching and wait-
ne in an automobile on a publie street or road for the purpose

{}f‘perpe’trating murder has been held sufficient to justily

the eiving of an instruetion on lying in wait (People v. Byrd,

supra, 42 Cal2d 200; People v. Sutic, 41 Cal.2d 483 {261
24 2411, and it 18 1mma,ter1a1 in any case that the intended

vietim may have become actually aware of the presence of

the murderer either immediately before or some time before
e killine oecurred. (People v. Sutic, supra; Peovle v.

Tuthill. supra, 31 Cal2d 92.) 1t appears sufficient if the
atching and waiting are aecompanied by any attempted con-
gluient from the vietim as ‘' part of defendant’s plan to take
s vietim later by surprise.”’ (People v. Sutw supra, 41 Cal

2d 483 492

~ This court has not heretofore adopted the view expressed

the dissenting opinion in People v. Byrd, supra, 42 Cal.
d 200, 217-218, that despite the existence of ample evidence
) show watching, waiting and attempted concealment from
¢ intended vietim until the opportnne time to perpetrate
¢ murder, an instruction on lying in wait is improper if
_appears that the vietim beecame ‘aware of defendant’s
resence’’ prior to the murder and ‘‘there is no evidence that
¢ shots were fired from a position of concealment.”’ (P.
18) 1 do not believe that such view should be adopted
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now, for it would have the effect of declaring improper an
instruction on lying in wait in many cases, such as the
present one, which T believe are typical cases of murder
““perpetrated by means of . . . lying in wait”’ within the
meaning of section 189 of the Penal Code. In other words,
if the evidence is otherwise sufficient, T believe that an in.
struction on lying in wait should be held proper despite the
fact that the vietim may have ultimately become aware of
the presence of the murderer and despite the fact that the
murder may have been finally committed in full view of the
vietim. {People v. Byrd, supra, 42 Cal2d 200; People v.
Tuthill, suprae, 31 Cal.2d 92.)

The majority opinion states, however: ‘““In the present
case, the killings occurred on the morning of the 20th; the
last time defendant had been seen parked in his car in the
vieinity was on the 18th; he was not seen watching or waiting
on the morning of the 20th, although he was seen driving his
car in that vicinity at that time. The facts in the case
under consideration do not appear to us to justify a lying
in wait instruetion.”” T cannot follow this reasoning. There
was evidence that defendant had been watching and waiting
in his parked car near the scene of the murder on the morn-
ings and afternoons of at least eleven separate days in Sep-
tember prior to Septermber 20, the last day being September
18. There was also evidence that defendant was driving his
car and later walking in the vicinity on the morning of the
murder on September 20. The jury could properly infer
that at all sueh times, including the day of the murder, de-
fendant was attempting to conceal himself from his intended
vietimg in order to take them by surprise, and was watching
and waiting for the opportune moment to perpetrate the
murder. I find no authority to indicate that one who watches
and waits for the opportune moment to commit murder while
moving in an autowmobile or on foot in the vicinity of a par-
ticular place may not be held to be “‘lying in wait’’ within
the meaning of section 189 of the Penal Code, and no good
reason appears for so holding. I am therefore of the opinion
that there was abundant evidence to justify the giving of
the instruction on lying in wait; and that the conclusion of
the majority that the evidence was insufficient for that pur-
pose not only finds no support in the authorities cited in
the majority opinion but is directly confrary to said author-
ities.

The reversal by the majority is further predicated upon
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he failore of the trigl court to give a partieular instruetion
ireumstantial evidence, as reguested by defendant, In
wsing to give the requesrcd uzsirwﬁen, the endorsement
e trial court thereon read in part as follows: “*Covered
e 24 and 27 on civeumstantial evidence.”” In my
the prinep involved in the requested instruetion
were fmwmsi»’*\; covered by the instruetions given, including
the instruction that “*yon are not permitied, on circumstantial
e'\fii]e, nee alone, fto find the defendant guilty of the erime
charged against him unless the proved cireumstances not only
are consistent with the hypothesis that the defendant is guilty
of the erimej but are irreconcilable with any other rational
eonclusion.” Tt is conceded by the majority that this “‘precise
prineiple’”” was given to the jury here and, in my opinion,

re was no errvor, and certainly no prejudice, in failing to
elaborate on the subject of cirecumstantial evidence further
than the trial conurt did in the instructions given.

T'or the reasons stated, I would affirm the judgment and the
order denying a new trial.

Gibson, C. J., and Shenk, J., concurred,

Gespondent’s petition for a reliearing was denied June 20,
1656, Gibson, €. J., Shenk, J., and Spence, J., were of the
opinion that the petition should be granted.
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